UNITED
NATIONS C R C

. Distr.
Convention on the CENERAL
Rights of the Child CRC/ CI SR. 385

8 Septenber 1997

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD COF THE 385t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 28 May 1997, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Paraguay

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 97-16803 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.25 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Paraguay (CRC/ C/ 3/Add.22; CRC/ C/ 3/ Add. 47)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, Ms. Mifioz, M. G nenez Cabral
M. Loizaga, Ms. Otiz Carrizosa and M. Ugal de (Paraguay) took their places
at the Commttee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON wel conmed t he Paraguayan del egation and invited it to
introduce the initial report of Paraguay (CRC/ C/ 3/ Add. 22 and CRC/ C/ 3/ Add. 47).

3. Ms. MINOZ (Paraguay) stated that the question of the rights of the
child was of concern to the entire country, fromthe executive, |egislative
and judicial bodies and the non-governnental organizations (NG3s) to

t he general public, all of which interests were represented on the
inter-institutional comm ssion that had prepared the report of Paraguay to
the Conmttee. A National Plan of Action for Children had been drawn up in
accordance with the commtnents nade by Paraguay to the internationa
comunity. The basic objective of that Plan was to ensure the survival,
protection and devel opnent of child and nother and the Plan was being

i npl ement ed by neans of a conprehensive set of programes which had the
following ains: to reduce infant and maternal norbidity and nortality and
mal nutrition, pronote access to drinking water and health services, ensure
regul ar attendance at primary school by all children, reduce the illiteracy
rate among adults and protect children in particularly difficult situations.
Coordi nation of the many activities thus initiated had been entrusted to a
mul tidisciplinary commttee that included representatives of the mnistries
directly concerned, such as the Mnistry of Education and Wrship, or
indirectly concerned, such as the Mnistry of Agriculture, and of various
bodi es such as the Technical Planning Secretariat, the Secretariat for Wnen's
Matters, the Ofice of the First Lady, the Catholic Church and the NGGs. The
decentralization of services for children had already started, with the
establ i shnment of nore than 20 nunicipal councils on the rights of the child
and adol escent, and that process was being continued, with financial aid from
UNI CEF in particular, while regional and |local comittees were inplenenting
the National Plan of Action even in the nost renpote areas of the country.

4, In the social field, activities had been entrusted to the Secretari at
for Social Action, which was endeavouring to use the resources acquired

t hrough external cooperation in the best interests of the npst vul nerable
groups of society. Already in progress were the National Plan of Action for
Chil dren, the programre for the conprehensive protection of street children
and adol escents and the progranme of social investment for vul nerable and
extrenely poor popul ations, including children at risk and indi genous
children. The Secretariat for Wonen's Matters had drawn up a national plan
for equality of opportunity for wonmen, one objective of which was to inprove
the situation of girls.

5. Wth regard to |l egislation, a nunber of basic texts had been adopted and
ot hers woul d be adopted shortly. She referred first of all to the Children's
and Young Persons' Code, which defined the rights and duties of the child and



CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 3

set forth the desired neasures for the proper devel opment of the child.
Those neasures were in accordance with the Convention, in particular with the
precepts stated in articles 8, 20, 21, 24, 28, 32 and 37.

6. She dealt at length with the question of adoption by foreigners. A bil
on the subject was currently before Parlianment, but pending its approval al
procedures for adoption by foreigners had been suspended. The bill stipul ated

that adoption by foreigners should be confined to countries that had ratified
t he Hague Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in Respect of
Intercountry Adoption, that the child should enjoy all the rights of an
adopted child in the country of residence of the adoptive parent and that

a person resident abroad should be authorized to adopt a child only if it

had been confirned by the court that no Paraguayan famly had appli ed.
Furthernore, an adoption centre funded by the Attorney-Ceneral's Ofice would
be the central adnministrative authority for adoption. She enphasized that al
those neasures would becone fully effective only when all those concerned were
fully aware of them

7. A bill on conscientious objection, which was a mgj or talking point anong
the general public, was being studied within the nore general framework of the
armed forces recruitnent system It defined a conscientious objector as
sonmeone who refused conpul sory mlitary service on ethical and religious
grounds and provided for alternative service for a maxi mum of 12 nonths in a
civilian setting, for exanple in teaching, the hospital sector, charitable
works or in the cormmunity. A national council on conscientious objection

whi ch woul d i nclude the onbudsman, a representative of the Mnistry of
Educati on and Worship and a representative of the Attorney-Ceneral, would be
responsi ble for inplenenting the | aw

8. Turning to education, she stressed that reformin that area was an
essential concern of the Governnent. The reform | aunched four years
previously ained to inprove the quality and efficiency of education, to make
it available to all and to conbat educational dropout and the repetition of
school years. Between 1900 and 1995 the nunber of primary teachers had risen
from600 to 3,200 and the nunber of teacher-training centres from20 to 31

but it was still difficult to cope with demand, which was rising faster than
suppl y.

9. The educational reformtook into account bilingualism which presented
conpl ex problens, and the need to conbat illiteracy. For the latter task

there were already 18 public or private institutions which constituted a
genui ne network. Finally, the rights of the child were included in the schoo
curriculum and conprehensi ve educational material had been prepared for that
purpose by NGOs and the Mnistry of Education and Wrship, in both Spanish and
Guar ani .

10. Heal th was another nmjor subject of concern for Paraguay: the materna

nortality rate was 200 deaths per 100,000 live births and the child nortality
rate was 24.3 per 1,000 children under five. Those high nortality rates were
accounted for by certain types of cultural behaviour in regard to procreation
together with poverty and the | ack of education which nmeant ignorance of

fam |y planning nethods. Antenatal protection was the responsibility of the

public health centres, where 42 per cent of deliveries took place. An effort



CRC/ ¢/ SR. 385
page 4

was being nmade to extend that coverage. Moreover, various bodi es endeavouring
to coordinate the work of the State services and the NGO were dealing
specifically with the problens of adol escent pregnancy, AIDS, abortion

mat ernal and infant nortality and inequality between the sexes. GCenerally
speaki ng, the health sector was organi zed on a national basis and since 1996 a
nati onal health system had been entrusted with the equitable distribution of
resources throughout the country and the pronotion of collaboration by al

i nstitutions concerned. Neverthel ess, decentralization was taking place and
the |l ocal governnents of the departnents had increased responsibilities for
health, particularly child health. She then outlined to the Conmittee the

obj ectives and budgets of five projects or programres dealing respectively
with maternal health and the conprehensive devel opnent of the child, primary
health care, technol ogical strengthening of basic health services,
strengthening of comunity health in rural areas and prevention of the use

of psychoactive substances.

11. Wth regard to the judicial system one of the reforns nost sorely
needed by the country, reformof the judiciary, had been conpleted. The
country currently had 29 juvenile courts, sone of which ruled on matters of
guardi anship, the others on correctional matters. The capital was therefore
no longer the only city that had judicial bodies responsible specifically for
chi | dren.

12. She concluded by admitting that nuch remained to be done. The texts of
the projects, plans and programmes she had nentioned were available to the
Committee on request.

13. M. G MENEZ CABRAL (Paraguay) stated that 239 nminors were detained in
the Panchito Lépez Institute for the Re-education of Mnors, of whom 233 were
in pre-trial detention and only 6 had been sentenced. The very | ow proportion
of sentenced young of fenders was obviously due to the slowness of judicia
procedures. Consequently, the Department of Procedural Guarantees of the
Attorney-Ceneral's O fice had endeavoured, in cooperation with the nmenbers of
the crimnal division of the Supreme Court of Justice, to change that
situation and 49 minors had been set at liberty in the previous April. The
Panchito LOpez Institute had recently been nodernized with public funding,
despite the country's difficult econom c situation. Roonms had been built for
sports and leisure activities and a particular effort was being nade to

i mprove the food of young offenders. Moreover, the Esperanza (Hope)
Foundati on, a private non-profit-making establishnment, had undertaken to build
an institute for mnors. By law, however, mnors could not remain in that
type of establishnment for nore than one nonth, so there was very little tinme
to teach thema trade. The NGO Finpar (Institute for the Conprehensive

Trai ning of Mnors of Paraguay), which was concerned with young of fenders, was
planning to build a re-education institute and had requested State aid for
that purpose. Parlianent had not yet reached a decision on the matter

Finally, with regard to child | abour, Paraguay had participated in the

| bero-Anmerican tripartite neeting in Cartagena (Col unbia) and had signed an
agreenent whereby it undertook to take steps to conmbat child | abour

14. Ms. ORTIZ CARRI ZOSA (Paraguay) added that the Secretariat for Social
Action coordinated the work of the governnmental bodies and NGOs dealing with
social matters, including assistance to children. The Secretariat had at its




CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 5

di sposal resources provided by the Inter-American Devel opnent Bank and the
Eur opean Uni on, which had allocated US$ 8 mllion and US$ 16 mllion
respectively to a programme for children and adol escents working in the

streets. It supported all activities aimed at pronoting the rights of the
child and was to | aunch a nationw de canpai gn on the occasion of the Wek for
the Rights of the Child. 1t was making a special effort to facilitate the

access of street children to education

15. Ms. SARDENBERG noted that considerable progress in child welfare had
been achi eved in Paraguay since 1994. Neverthel ess, poverty, difficult access
to services, the poor quality of those services and the fact that Paraguay had
for a long tinme been under a dictatorship were still inpeding the ful

i mpl enentati on of the Convention and the exercise of the rights of the child.

16. On the matter of decentralization, she asked how many comunes had a
regi onal committee and whether civil society and the Government were equally
represented on such commttees. She noted that sone aspects of the draft code
on children and young persons were positive, but that some of its provisions
were not in conformty with the Convention: were efforts being nade to bring
the national legislation into line with the Convention?

17. She wel coned the Government's spirit of openness towards the NGOs that
were playing an increasingly inportant role in protecting the rights of the
child. She asked what was the distinction between the Permanent Forum for the
Ri ghts of the Child, which was nmade up of governnental and non-governnenta
bodi es, and the Coordinating Ofice for the Rights of Children and Young
Persons, which involved only NGOs. Finally, she requested further information
on the situation of indigenous children, children under arrest and children
whose parents authorized their recruitnment into the arned forces.

18. Ms. MINOZ (Paraguay) stated that the reformin Paraguay had initially
been econom c and political. Social reformhad cone |ater and the Governnent
was determned to continue its efforts in that area. The National Plan of
Action for Children contained precise objectives concerning health, education
and the control of violence by the year 2000, as recomrended at the World
Summit for Children and at regional neetings on childhood. The CGovernnment was
currently making a special effort to inprove access to the courts and to
guarantee the independence of the judiciary. Furthernore, a new | aw on
education was in the process of adoption. It laid stress in school curricula
on human rights, denmpcracy and equity. The results of the inplenmentation of
the new | aw woul d be felt only in the longer term but already teachers were
di spl aying a nore open-ninded attitude, which was essential if the educationa
reformwas to benefit all communities. She stressed that the Secretariat for
Soci al Action was responsible for coordinating the activities of the NGOs on
behal f of children. |If Paraguay had not yet ratified the Hague Convention on
Intercountry Adoption, that was because it was aware of the need to set up a
coordi nati on mechani smat the national level in order to be fully able to

i mpl enment that Convention. Simlarly, the Government was comnbining efforts
with the Senate Legislative Commission in order to define a coordinating body
that woul d supervise the inplenmentation of the forthcom ng Children's and
Young Persons' Code. She stressed that, under the 1992 Constitution, the



CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 6

Presi dent no | onger governed by decree but followed the customary |egislative
procedures. That process was adm ttedly slower, but it avoided the risk of
reverting to the habits of the past.

19. The Permanent Forum for the Rights of the Child and the Coordinating
Ofice for the Rights of Children and Young Persons were independent

i nvestigation and study organi zati ons, which also engaged in action. The

Per manent Forum had been set up to prepare the draft Children's and Young
Persons' Code. The public authorities worked nore closely with the
Coordinating Ofice, which forned part of the group nonitoring the draft Code,
whi ch was still being considered by Parlianent. The Coordinating Ofice, in
col |l aboration with the Directorate for the Protection of Juveniles, which cane
under the Mnistry of Justice, ensured that legislation was in line with the
Conventi on.

20. M. FULCI noted fromthe report and fromthe CGovernnment's replies

that 40 per cent of Paraguayan children spoke only Guarani at hone, which
prevented them from acquiring higher education. He felt that was a serious
formof discrimnation and asked whether the Governnment was taking any steps
to combat it. He asked for additional information on street children, who
often suffered frommalnutrition and di sease and had no access to education
Mor eover, what was the situation of young girls enployed as domestic workers?
Did they attend school? Finally, was it true that despite the neasures taken
by the Governnent many children under 17 years of age were forced to enlist in
the arned forces?

21. Ms. MINOZ (Paraguay) stated that Guarani and Spani sh were each spoken
by 80 per cent of the popul ation of Paraguay, while 20 per cent spoke only
Spani sh and 20 per cent only Guarani. The 1992 Constitution granted the
status of official |anguage to Guarani, a |anguage with deep roots in
Paraguay. Under the educational reform Guarani-speaking children could be
educated in that | anguage. The reason why children sonetinmes did not have
access to education was the |ack of schools. |In recent years, however,
school s had been built in Paraguay at the rate of two a day and that rate was
still being maintained. 1t should also be stressed that 20 per cent of the
nati onal budget was spent on education. Finally, the forthcom ng educationa
reform provided for Guarani to be used in higher education as well. She added
that there was a schol arship programre for children fromvery poor famlies.

22. The representatives of indigenous popul ati ons had taken part in drafting
the 1992 Constitution and the Government had invested considerabl e anpbunts of
money to enabl e the indigenous peoples to continue to live on their

traditional |ands. The Governnment was endeavouring to enable those

popul ations to benefit from various public services, and registry offices had
been opened on the reservations, principally so that the inhabitants could
register the birth of their children. 1t should also be stressed that the

M ni stry of Education and Worshi p supervised the inplementation of the
educational reformin the indigenous comunities and that other vernacul ar

| anguages such as Nivacl é were used in teaching. Mreover, the Convention had
been translated into Guarani and was used in the educational system



CRC/ C/ SR. 385

page 7
23. Foll owi ng a survey showi ng that there were approxi mately 26,000 street
children, an amount of US$ 20 million had been released for the inplenmentation
of projects by civil society - local and regional NGO - but formulating

projects took tinme in a country |ike Paraguay where the wel fare organi zations
were not accustomed to being invited to state their needs. Sone 13 projects
had al ready been | aunched and resources were available for funding many
others. The objective was to enable the children to | eave the streets and
re-establish relations with their famlies.

24. The forced recruitnent of children into the army had | ong been a subject
of concern in Paraguay, a country where the arned forces had played a

predom nant role in the past. As a result of vigorous canpai gns conducted by
the nmedia and NGOs there were currently hardly any cases of forced
recruitnment, but she was unaware whether any corrective neasures had been
taken in that respect. The practice of recruiting children under 17 years of
age was difficult to elimnate, noreover, because when heads of famly

(22 per cent of whom were wonen) wanted to send a minor child to join the
army - requesting the authorization of a magistrate where necessary - they did
so on account of economic difficulties, in order to ensure that the child
woul d have decent accommodation and food for at |east one year. The revision
of the Children's and Young Persons' Code, currently in progress, would | ead
to a total ban on the recruitment of mnors below the required age.

25. M. RABAH asked for information on the age of crimnal responsibility
and whether, in the event of inprisonnment, mnors were separated from adults,
girls fromboys, mnors in pre-trial detention from convicted m nors, and
whet her they received | egal aid.

26. The CHAI RPERSON sai d she wondered whether the newy established
institutions and the appoi ntment of 20 new children's magi strates would really
put an end to the violation of the right to a swift trial brought about by the
excessive delay in | egal proceedings agai nst m nors.

27. M. G MENEZ CABRAL (Paraguay) stated that minors in pre-trial detention
at the Panchito Lépez Re-education Institute were not separated from convicted
of fenders. There were in any case very few convicted of fenders, but once the
extensi ons had been conpleted they would be put in separate accommodation. In
the regional prisons, mnors were separated fromadults. Grls were confined
in a re-education institute for wonen, the Casa del Buen Pastor (Hone of the
Good Shepherd), and in the regional prisons they too were separated from
adults. Wth regard to legal aid, mnors received the services of a | awer.
Some of the officially appointed |lawers did not have the resources to work
qui ckly, which was one of the reasons for the delays in proceedings. The
entry into force of the new Code of Criminal Procedure should make it possible
to remedy the situation through the introduction of a nore rapid procedure.

28. Ms. ORTIZ CARRI ZOSA (Paraguay) stressed that the draft Children's and
Young Persons' Code was based on the principles of the Convention
Accordingly, it envisaged inprisonnent for a very limted period as a neasure
of last resort to back up a series of other neasures - in the spirit of the
principle of conprehensive protection advocated in the Convention




CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 8

29. Ms. MINOZ (Paraguay) said that child prostitution had | ong been a taboo
subj ect but that a survey carried out by UNI CEF on the sexual exploitation of
children and adol escents in Asunci é6n and C udad del Este had denobnstrated the
extent of that problemin Paraguay. As yet there was no national policy to
conbat the problem but children's nmagistrates were already taking action in
the field and a nunber of NGOs had offered | egal aid and gui dance services.

30. The national plan for the prevention of violence agai nst wonen gave
prom nence to the protection of female nminors who were placed in famlies as
domestic workers, in principle in order to receive an education in exchange
for their work. These young servants, cut off fromtheir famlies, were often
subj ected to violence, but all conplaints concerning such cases had led to
action by the juvenile courts and other conpetent bodies.

31. Ms. MBO, conmenting that the best interests of the child could only be
served through the equal sharing of responsibilities by the parents, asked
whet her | egal provisions and social or cultural programmes had been put in

pl ace in order to make nen nore aware of the need to assune their
responsibilities in the famly and to adopt responsi bl e sexual behavi our

32. She asked if the delegation could provide statistics, if appropriate in
witing, on nutrition, famly planning and especially on sexually transmtted
di seases, particularly AIDS. The few data contained in the docunment submtted
concerned the year 1995 and it would be useful to have nore recent data,
particularly on the HV seropositivity rate anong persons under 18 years of
age.

33. M. KOLOSOV asked what progress had been nmade in revising the Children's
and Young Persons' Code, in particular whether it was intended to include
provi sions stating that the deprivation of liberty was a neasure of |ast
resort, and what |egal and adm nistrative guarantees were envi saged to that
end. He also asked for information on the percentage of Guarani-speaking
young of fenders anong the total nunber of persons in detention

34. Ms. MXHUANE noted with concern that in npst cases young girls working
in famlies as donestic servants enjoyed no protection at all. She asked
whet her any studi es had been conducted on the issue of the placenent of
children in famlies in order to find out how such children fared.

35. Ms. OUEDRAOGO drew attention to an apparent contradiction between the
age of consent to sexual relations for girls, which according to the report
was 14 years, and the age at which a girl could marry, which according to the
sanme report was 20 years. She asked for clarification on the matter

36. Ms. MINOZ (Paraguay) said that the draft of the new Civil Code

contai ned a whole series of neasures ained at ensuring the sharing of parenta
responsi bility and at encouraging parents to fulfil their nutritiona
obligations. It was also intended, as part of the legislative reform to
ensure that the forensic physicians in rape cases were wonen.

37. It was also clear that, in the absence of an urgently needed reform of
the civil registry system it was not possible to produce any statistics or
research worthy of the nane. Wth regard to famly planning, an area where



CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 9

access to information and services was henceforth a right, 64 per cent of
requests were covered by the current programmes. She drew the Comrittee's
attention to the fact that famly planning had met with criticism and
opposition fromthe Catholic Church, which had been separate fromthe State
since the adoption of the new Constitution

38. Under the national AIDS control programre, which was under the
responsibility of the Mnistry of Public Health, a nmonthly record of the
pandem ¢ was kept. It had thus been established that the nunmber of women with

Al DS was on the increase and that the majority of mnors in prostitution were
suffering fromsexually transmtted di seases, including AlDS

39. M. G MENEZ CABRAL (Paraguay) said that under the present Civil Code the
age of marriage was fixed at 14 years for girls and 16 years for boys, with
the parents' consent. |f young people wished to marry without their parents
consent, they could do so provided that they remained under the reginme of
separate property until they came of age. Furthernore, the adm nistration of
corporal punishment to pupils by a teacher constituted an offence and there
were currently sonme cases of teachers who had been relieved of their duties
and prosecuted for that type of offence.

40. Ms. ORTIZ CARRI ZOSA (Paraguay) added that in the new Civil Code it was
envisaged to fix the age of marriage at 14 years for both girls and boys. It
shoul d be pointed out that when the new | egi sl ati on was adopted the judge
woul d be obliged to take the child s opinion into account before ruling in a
juvenil e delinquency case.

41. Ms. MINOZ (Paraguay) said that no Guarani children were currently in
prison. Mreover, the system whereby m ddl e-class famlies enpl oyed m nors
frompoor fam |lies as donestic servants, paying for their studies in exchange
for their services, was a kind of partial “adoption” system The children
concerned mai ntai ned regul ar and frequent contacts with their own famlies.
It should al so be pointed out that polionyelitis vaccination coverage was

18 per cent, that infant nortality had been dropping for three years to a
current level of 43 per 1,000 live births and that 34 per cent of househol ds
had access to drinking water. That |ast figure was extrenely | ow, but the
Par aguayan authorities had set thenselves the objective of supplying

100 per cent of households with drinking water by the year 2000.

42. M. KOLOSOV said it was his understanding that the next periodic report
of Paraguay was to be submitted in 1997 and considered in 1998. 1In his view
the Committee might grant Paraguay one or two additional years so as to nmke
t he next discussion nore fruitful

43. Ms. SARDENBERG said she wel coned the frankness of the Paraguayan

del egation and believed that efforts had been made, even if nuch remained to
be done regarding the protection and pronotion of the rights of the child. In
particular there was a need to strengthen the nmeasures taken to di ssem nate
the Convention and to set up a national programme to assist vul nerable
children, particularly mnors working as donmestic servants in famlies, who
according to certain information were sonmetinmes in an unenviable situation

It was al so inportant that the Paraguayan Government shoul d deposit the
instrument ratifying the Hague Convention on Protection of Children and




CRC/ C/ SR. 385
page 10

Cooperation in Respect of Intercountry Adoption and that, in the agreenments it
concluded on nmultilateral or bilateral cooperation, it should pay specia
attention to the rights of the child.

44, The CHAI RPERSON said she agreed with M. Kolosov that it would be

hel pful to defer the presentation of the next periodic report of Paraguay in
order to make a better evaluation of the outcone of the comm tnents undertaken
by the Paraguayan authorities. She added that the Committee was stil
concerned at a nunber of issues, related in particular to the |ack of adequate
and reliable statistics, to the coordination of the various institutions, to
the registration of births, to violence and sexual exploitation and to the

adm nistration of justice for mnors. Furthernore, when it considered the
next periodic report of Paraguay, the Committee would certainly wish to

di scuss in greater depth questions related to general principles, to the
situation of mnorities and indigenous popul ations, to the situation of young
girls, to the distribution of resources and to the situation in rural areas.
Finally, there was a particularly urgent need for the Paraguayan authorities
to tackle the problem of the deprivation of liberty of mnors, which in
accordance with article 37 of the Convention should be used only as a neasure
of last resort.

45. She thanked the Paraguayan del egation for its cooperation and announced
that the Committee had conpleted its consideration of the initial report of
Par aguay.

The neeting rose at 6.00 p. m




